PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI TO THE
COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Nov 27 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Honorable Ralph K. Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

Op. No. 6021 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Nov. 18, 2023)
Case No. 2023-001750

STEWART BUCHANAN, PETITIONER,

v.

S.C. DEP'T PROB., PAROLE & PARDON SERVS., RESPONDENT.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALLISON FRANZ
ROSALIND S.D. MAJOR
Justice 360
900 Elmwood Ave., Suite 200
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 765-1044
allison@justice360sc.org
rosalind@justice360sc.org

Other Counsel of Record:

MATTHEW C. BUCHANAN

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Stewart Buchanan, a 67-year-old inmate serving a life-with-parole sentence for an offense he committed at age 17, is the longest continuously-incarcerated juvenile in the state of South Carolina. For forty years, Stewart has appeared before the Parole Board every two years and has been denied parole each time, despite clear proof of rehabilitation. His last 18 parole denials have been based exclusively on the only criteria Stewart cannot change: the nature and circumstances of his offense.

The law governing juvenile sentencing has undergone a sea change in both the United States and South Carolina Supreme Courts over the past twenty years. Most importantly, in *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), this Court established a set of five mitigating factors of youth that decision-makers must consider when sentencing juveniles. No decision-maker has ever considered those factors in Stewart's case. At Stewart's parole hearings, there is no indication on the record that the Board has considered either the § 24-21-640 factors, the Form 1212 factors, or any of the mitigating factors of youth. At issue here is whether the Board, as the sole remaining decision-maker concerning whether Stewart spends the rest of his life in prison, is required by *Aiken's* due process principles to consider the *Aiken* factors when determining whether Stewart should receive parole.

QUESTION 1

Whether the current procedures of the Parole Board are sufficient to safeguard juvenile offenders' due process rights as guaranteed by *Aiken v. Byars* and *Cooper v. S.C. Dep't Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*?

QUESTION 2

Whether the Supreme Court and this Court's Eighth Amendment mandate that decision-makers consider the mitigating factors of youth in determining whether a juvenile offender is entitled to a "meaningful opportunity for release" requires that the Parole Board take these same factors into account in deciding whether to grant parole to juvenile offenders who were sentenced prior to *Aiken v. Byars*?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE & RELEVANT FACTS

Stewart Buchanan has been an inmate in the South Carolina Department of Corrections (SCDC) for fifty years—since he was seventeen years old—which gives him the distinction of being the longest-serving continuously incarcerated juvenile in this state. App. 148, 159. He has now been denied parole eighteen times since first becoming parole-eligible in 1983. App. 307–24. As will be discussed in more detail below, the denials cannot be justified by Stewart’s institutional record. The last sixteen parole denials were not a reflection of poor prison behavior or a defect in his re-entry plan, but rather were based exclusively on the one thing Stewart cannot change: the facts and circumstances of his offense. *See* App. 307–24.¹

In support of his release on parole, Stewart sent a packet of information to the Parole Board members, linking his offense to the transient qualities of youth and detailing his exemplary correctional record along with his plans for release. Stewart’s childhood was marked by physical and emotional abuse and neglect by both of his parents. App. 30. Stewart turned to his older sister, Janet, as a parental figure until she, too, abandoned Stewart when he was in his early teens. App. 30–31. Left without the one person to whom he felt emotionally connected, Stewart fell in with an older crowd and began to drink and use drugs in an attempt to cope with his home life and emotional trauma. App. 32–33. As Dr. Susan Knight, PhD., a licensed forensic clinical

¹ In 1973, when Stewart was seventeen years old, he was charged with, and shortly thereafter pled guilty to, the murder of his neighbor, forty-three-year-old Ariene Boone. App. 139–42, 148. The basic facts are not in dispute. Stewart, disoriented from a mix of alcohol, drugs, and lack of sleep, climbed through his neighbor's window in the early morning hours of May 18, 1973. *See* App. 33–34, 44, 148. Ms. Boone saw him, called Stewart’s name, and climbed out of another window onto her porch. App. 148–49. Stewart followed her out the window and when she ran into the yard and began yelling his mother's name, he stabbed her to death. App. 149. Stewart’s father called the police. App. 149. Stewart was taken into custody later the same day and, when questioned by law enforcement, gave a full confession (which included the location of the murder weapon). App. 153.

psychologist who evaluated Stewart, explained, it is against this backdrop of “social and neurobiological immaturity,” “severe[] intoxicat[ion]” and compromised “reasoning, judgment and impulse control”² that nearly fifty years ago Stewart committed the crime for which he is still incarcerated.³ *See* App. 58.

Only four months after his arrest, Stewart entered a guilty plea, expressed his deep, sincere remorse, and accepted the (then) mandatory minimum sentence for murder: life imprisonment with the possibility of parole after ten years. App. 158–59. At the sentencing hearing, the trial judge acknowledged that Stewart’s crime was the product of a “tragic situation” and expressed his hope that Stewart could “salvage some phase of his life.” App. 159. His attorney advised him, based on the then-existing practice of the Parole Board, that if he maintained a good institutional record, he would likely be granted parole when, or not long after, he first became parole-eligible. App. 34–35. When he entered his guilty plea at age 17, Stewart reasonably believed, based on then-established parole board practice, that he would be granted parole after serving 10 years (or soon thereafter). App. 34–35. Fifty years later, however, Stewart remains in prison, where he has been a model inmate and has become a role model for younger inmates. Since January 2018, he has

² Dr. Knight also conducted an empirically validated risk assessment, the HCR-20^{v3}, and concluded that Stewart posed a low risk for reoffending, especially with continued substance-abuse treatment. App. 53, 59. According to Dr. Knight, Stewart “demonstrate[s] good insight into the adverse developmental factors facilitating his substance abuse as a teenager, which in turn, was heavily implicated in the offense.” App. 58. Stewart has “taken full responsibility [for his crime], with expressions of remorse throughout his records and interviews,” and ministers who have worked with Stewart in recent years told Dr. Knight that he is “[g]enuine, looking for change,” “a shining example of what a man can do,” and deserving of an opportunity outside of prison. App. 42, 49, 58, 59.

³ The circumstances leading up to and surrounding Stewart’s offense specifically involved the factors that a sentencing court must consider before sentencing a juvenile to life in prison without parole. *See infra* Section I; *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 544, 765 S.E.2d 572, 577 (2014) (quoting *Miller v. Alabama*, 567 U.S. 460, 477–78 (2012)). Stewart was a young man who did not feel at home with his family and this yearning to belong made him extremely susceptible to the pressures of his peers and the escapism provided to him by drugs and alcohol. *See* App. 44.

been confined at Perry Correctional Institution in the “Lifers Rehabilitation Program,” a character-based housing unit which is only available to inmates who have been, and remain, disciplinary-free. App. 37.

Prior to the hearing, Stewart’s attorney sent a letter to the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services (PPP) describing the sea change in constitutional law applicable to juvenile life sentences. *See, e.g., Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 544, 765 S.E.2d at 577. Those opinions, counsel explained, constitutionalized the principle that “children are different” from adults for sentencing and parole purposes. App. 219–23. These differences mean that the decision of whether to incarcerate a juvenile for life (and thus whether to grant a juvenile parole) must consider the class characteristics of youth identified by the courts as well as any individual mitigating circumstances associated with the case. Counsel explained that because the judge who sentenced Stewart did not have the benefit of those decisions, and because South Carolina has not granted resentencing hearings to juveniles sentenced to life with parole, the Board, as the sole decision-maker with respect to Stewart’s case, must now take those same factors into account in deciding whether to grant him parole. App. 221. Specifically, counsel requested that the Board consider Stewart’s age, immaturity, intellectual capacity, and home environment at the time of the offense; the circumstances of the offense and how they were affected by the hallmark features of youth; the culpability of juveniles compared to that of adults; and how Stewart’s youth affected his interactions with law enforcement, counsel and the criminal justice system. App. 221.

In response, attorneys for PPP assured Stewart that the Board would consider “factors that he was a juvenile at the time he committed the offense,” as well as “any other mitigating evidence.” App. 225. But they did not. Following Stewart’s parole hearing, one of many heard that day,⁴ the

⁴ *See* South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services, *Parole & Pardon*

Board “deliberated” for less than a minute (forty-three seconds). No member of the Board indicated that Stewart’s status as a juvenile offender played any role in their consideration of his application for parole, and the Board denied Stewart parole for the eighteenth time based solely on the circumstances of the impulsive crime that Stewart committed as a teenager almost five decades ago. App. 329–30.

Stewart challenged the Board’s ruling in the Administrative Law Court (ALC), but the ALC dismissed his appeal, leaning heavily on *Cooper v. S.C. Dep’t of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 377 S.C. 499, 661 S.E.2d 111 (2008), which held that when the Board “deviates from or renders its decision without consideration of the appropriate criteria, it essentially abrogates an inmate’s right to parole eligibility and, thus, infringes on a state-created liberty interest.” App. 331–39. This interest, the ALC reasoned, does not exist in the context of a “routine denial or granting of parole” and such a denial is therefore “not appealable unless the inmate can show that he was ‘rendered ineligible for parole due to the procedure employed by the Parole Board.’” App. 334 (quoting *Cooper*, 377 S.C. at 495–96, 661 S.E.2d at 106, 110). Thus, the ALC concluded, its hands were tied. Although no decision maker has ever fully considered Stewart’s youth, vulnerability, and later rehabilitation, and although the Board has no formal procedure for doing so, the ALC deemed the Board’s actions comported with “the minimum constitutional due process requirements outlined in *Cooper*” because its denial letter included an assurance that it had considered the factors outlined in S.C. Code Ann. § 24-21-640. App. 334, 345.

Stewart subsequently appealed the ALC’s ruling to the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals “reluctantly” affirmed the ALC on the grounds that “the Board has complied with the

Hearings, https://www.dppps.sc.gov/FAQ#parole_pardon_hearings (last accessed January 2, 2020) (“The Parole Board hears up to 70 cases per day so their time is limited.”).

minimal requirements necessary for this to satisfy the standard our supreme court articulated in Cooper” and the Court was constrained to “operat[e] within the framework set by statutory law and by our supreme court’s precedents.” App. 472, Op. No. 6021, *Buchanan v. S.C. Dep’t Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.* (S.C. Ct. App. filed Oct. 18, 2023). However, the Court of Appeals noted that the Parole Board’s procedures raise the question of whether Stewart and other similarly situated offenders are in fact afforded meaningful opportunities for release before the Board:

We recognize there is tension between the principle that inmates are entitled to a meaningful parole review and what appears to be serial denials of parole based solely on factors that do not change and that have no relation to an inmate’s rehabilitation. Even so, we read the authorities to instruct that the court system’s role does not include looking behind the Board’s statement that it has considered all of the factors and made its decision. . . . However, we are concerned regarding the perfunctory manner in which Buchanan’s request for parole was denied. Although Buchanan and other juveniles similarly situated are technically eligible for parole, the continuing denial of parole based on the same factors, all unchangeable and related to their offenses, gives no guidance to these inmates about what can be done to improve their chances of parole and is very nearly equivalent to being ineligible for parole. Under the current system, it appears no passage of time served (here, forty-seven years) or showing of rehabilitation (here, eighteen parole reviews now indicating Buchanan “has more than demonstrated his rehabilitation”) can change his fate before this Board.

App. 471. Consequently, the court asked both this Court and the Legislature to look deeper into the Board’s procedures in recognition that “inmates who offended while juveniles are not given meaningful review regarding parole.”

Although the Board has complied with the minimal requirements necessary for this to satisfy the standard our supreme court articulated in Cooper, we are sympathetic to Buchanan’s argument that it appears inmates who offended while juveniles are not given meaningful review regarding parole. Our role is one that is limited to operating within the framework set by statutory law and by our supreme court’s precedents. It may well be good policy for the Legislature to review and/or revise the parole system to assure the factors of youth are a part of considering parole in these cases rather than permitting the seemingly perfunctory review now standardly given, but that is the Legislature’s decision, not ours.

App. 472.

Specifically, the Court of Appeals found that its hands were tied by *Cooper v. S.C. Dep't Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 377 S.C. 489, 661 S.E.2d 106 (2008). In *Cooper*, this Court established that parole-eligible inmates have a state-created liberty interest in a meaningful opportunity for parole. 377 S.C. 489, 661 S.E.2d 106. Thus, as a matter of law, if the Board renders a decision that permanently denies parole to an otherwise parole-eligible inmate, the denial is not a "routine denial of parole" and triggers due process requirements of judicial review. *Id.* at 497–98, 661 S.E.2d at 110–11; *Furtick v. S.C. Dep't of Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 352 S.C. 594, 598, 576 S.E.2d 146, 149 (2003); *Sullivan v. S.C. Dep't of Corrections*, 355 S.C. 437, 443 n.4, 586 S.E.2d 124, 124 n.4 (2003). Further, the Board's actions may violate an inmate's right to parole eligibility even in the absence of an explicit statement by the Board that it is permanently denying parole to an inmate. *Cooper*, 377 S.C. at 498, 661 S.E.2d at 111 ("[A] sufficient liberty interest may be implicated to trigger due process requirements even though the Parole Board's decision did not constitute a permanent denial of parole eligibility.") (citing *Steele v. Benjamin*, 362 S.C. 66, 72–73, 606 S.E.2d 502, 503 (Ct. App. 2004)). "If a Parole Board deviates from or renders its decision without consideration of the appropriate criteria, we believe it essentially abrogates an inmate's right to parole eligibility and, thus, infringes on a state-created liberty interest." *Id.* at 499, 661 S.E.2d at 111. The *Cooper* Court noted that the risk of infringement is especially high where, as here, the Board denies parole based solely on factors relating to the nature and circumstances of the offense. *See id.* at 500, 661 S.E.2d at 112.

Cooper was followed one year later by *Compton v. S.C. Dep't Prob., Parole & Pardon Servs.*, 385 S.C. 476, 685 S.E.2d 175 (2009). In *Compton*, this Court held that a decision by the Board will be considered a routine denial of parole if "the Parole Board clearly states in its order

denying parole that it considered the factors outlined in section 24-21-640 and the fifteen factors published in Form 1212.” 385 S.C. at 479, 685 S.E.2d at 177.

PPP and the Board have carved a procedural loophole out of these cases that they have used to sidestep *Cooper*'s requirements entirely, interpreting *Compton*'s holding to mean that the Board would be immune from judicial review and could violate *Cooper*'s due process guarantees with impunity as long as it made a vague assertion that it had considered the requisite factors in its decision to deny parole. Subsequently, the Board adopted its now-standard practice of uniformly denying parole to 93%⁵ of the inmates who come before it, often citing no other reasons than the nature and circumstances of the inmate's offense, and copying and pasting the same sentence into the denial letters that PPP sends after each parole hearing:

After careful consideration of: (1) the characteristics of your current offense(s), prior offense(s), prior supervision history, prison disciplinary record, and/or prior criminal record, as described in the findings of fact below; (2) the factors published in Department Form 1212 (Criteria for Parole Consideration); (3) the factors outlined in Section 24-21-640 of the South Carolina Code of Laws, and (4) actuarial risk and needs assessment factors pursuant to Section 2421-10(F)(1) of the South Carolina Code of Laws. The Parole Board had determined that your parole must be denied.

This recitation has become standard practice for the Board in accordance with its interpretation that *Compton* safeguards it from judicial scrutiny (or even oversight) as long as the requisite factors are referenced. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized that this regular procedure of denying parole to inmate after inmate based solely on the nature and circumstances of their offenses violate inmates' liberty interest in a meaningful opportunity for parole, but also

⁵ Facts and Figures, South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole, & Pardon Services (as of Sept. 30, 2023), <https://www.dppps.sc.gov/About-PPP/Facts-Figures>. The grant rate for violent offenders is even lower, at 4%. *Id.* In contrast, the vast majority of other states grant parole at rates between 25% and 70%. Prison Policy Initiative, “Discretionary Parole Grant Rates by State, 2019–2022” (Oct. 16, 2023), https://www.prisonpolicy.org/data/parolerates_2019_2022.html.

found that this Court’s prior jurisprudence “constrained” the Court of Appeals from granting relief.⁶ App. 461. Stewart now appeals the Court of Appeals’ decision to this Court.

REASONS THE WRIT SHOULD BE GRANTED

The constitutional sea change in juvenile sentencing law implicates a liberty interest in a meaningful opportunity for parole that requires juvenile-specific parole procedures. The Court of Appeals “reluctantly” found “that the Board followed the proper procedure when it denied Stewart parole because the Board's order of denial stated the Board had considered “the factors outlined in [s]ection 24-21-640” and “the factors published in Department Form 1212.” App. 472. In doing so, the Court of Appeals raised real concerns about the Board’s current process as it relates to juveniles, noting that, “[t]he public policy behind *Roper*, *Graham*, and *Miller*, to restore hope to juvenile offenders for some life outside of prison, is thwarted by the Board's continued reliance on factors existing at the time of the conviction with little or no apparent consideration of subsequent rehabilitation efforts.” App. 471. This Court should grant certiorari and require the Board to adopt procedures that comport with the due process requirements of *Cooper*, *Miller*, and *Aiken*.

⁶ Petitioner submits that the current legal framework governing parole cases allows the Parole Board to skirt the due process requirements of *Cooper* by permanently denying inmates parole with no opportunity for judicial review. While this issue was not specifically raised in the lower courts, the Court of Appeals noted multiple times that it was only constrained from granting relief on Stewart’s potentially meritorious claims by the current caselaw governing parole denials, and further, encouraged the Legislature to resolve the inconsistencies. App. 472. Petitioner further submits that this Court may also remedy the discrepancies between *Cooper*’s requirements and the Board’s current practices. Given the Court of Appeals’ finding that it could not solve the problem that “inmates who offended while juveniles are not given meaningful review regarding parole” because “[o]ur role is one that is limited to operating within the framework set by statutory law and by our supreme court's precedents,” *id.*, the issue of whether the currently-existing caselaw permits the Board to violate due process is ripe for review should this Court choose to take it up in this case.

I. There has been a foundational shift in the substantive sentencing law applicable to juvenile sentencing proceedings.

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