RECEIVED

DEC 19 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from the Administrative Law Court
The Honorable Ralph King Anderson, III., Chief Administrative Law Judge

Op. No. 6021 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed Nov. 18, 2023)

Case No. 2023-001750

STEWART BUCHANAN,

PETITIONER,

v.

S.C. DEPT. OF PROBATION, PAROLE & PARDON SERVS,

RESPONDENT.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

MATTHEW C. BUCHANAN
General Counsel

South Carolina Department of Probation,
Parole and Pardon Services
Post Office Box 207
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 734-9220

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

This Court should not entertain this Petition. Respondent respectfully submits that requiring *Aiken-Miller* factors be considered before the Board can deny Petitioner parole would be "ignor[ing] the confines of the holdings of the Supreme Court and instead extend[ing] the rationale

¹ "Undoubtedly, the Parole Board is the sole authority with respect to decisions regarding the grant or denial of parole." Cooper v. S.C. Dep't of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services, 377 S.C. 489, 499, 661 S.E.2d 106, 111 (2008).

² "Parole is a privilege, not a right," Id. at 496, 661 S.E.2d at 110 (Citing Sullivan v. S.C. Dep't of Corr., 355 S.C. 437, 443 n. 4, 586 S.E.2d 124 127 n.4 (2003)).

underlying the holdings.” Slocumb at 420, 836 S.E.2d at 349-50. This Court has previously declined to take this step, and Respondent respectfully requests this Court do so again.

II. The procedures of the Parole Board are sufficient to safeguard all inmates’ limited due process rights, including those of inmates who committed their offenses as juveniles.

Petitioner argues that due process requires he receive a “meaningful” opportunity for parole, ignoring the fact that he regularly appears before the one body in the state with the authority to grant parole, albeit in its own discretion. Clearly, his definition of a “meaningful” opportunity for parole is results-driven. Under Petitioner’s logic, because he has not yet received parole, his opportunities to date must therefore not have been meaningful.

Respondent submits this argument should not be seriously considered by this Court. Granting certiorari to explore what a “meaningful” opportunity for parole is supposed to look like would only cloud the clear and established procedures previously laid out by this Court in the cases of Cooper³ and Compton.⁴ From Petitioner’s perspective, the only “meaningful” opportunity for parole is the one in which he receives parole. Yet regardless of how understandable such a position may be coming from an inmate, South Carolina law only affords him the hope of release.

As this Court has stated repeatedly, parole is a privilege, not a right. Sullivan v. S.C. Dep’t of Corr., 355 S.C. 437, 443 n. 4, 586 S.E.2d 124 127 n.4 (2003). The “*permanent denial of parole eligibility*” by the Department “implicates a liberty interest sufficient to require at least minimal due process.” Furtick v. S.C. Dep’t of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services, 352 S.C. 594, 598,

³ Cooper v. S.C. Dep’t of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services, 377 S.C. 489, 661 S.E.2d 106 (2008).

⁴ Compton v. S.C. Dep’t of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services, 385 S.C. 476, 685 S.E.2d 175 (2009).

576 S.E.2d 146, 149 (2003) (emphasis in original). Petitioner, however, has not been permanently denied parole. He remains eligible for parole, and the Board at a subsequent hearing is certainly authorized to grant him parole should it choose to do so.

Since no liberty interest is implicated when an eligible inmate is denied parole by the Board, the inmate should have no expectation that his appeal from the routine denial of parole to the ALC (under *Furtick* or any other rationale) would be met with anything but dismissal. This is apparent in the statutory language governing the ALC's ability to hear cases found at S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-600(D): "An administrative law judge shall not hear an appeal from an inmate in the custody of the Department of Corrections involving ... the denial of parole to a potentially eligible inmate by the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services."

This Court has already held that an appeal to the ALC should only be considered if the inmate alleges a sufficient state-created liberty interest. Cooper, 377 S.C. at 502, 661 S.E.2d at 113. In that case, this Court reviewed an allegation that the Board was not following the procedure established by Section 24-21-640 or using its own criteria for parole consideration. The Court remanded the Board's denial of parole, only because there was no evidence that the Board weighed the factors in Section 24-21-640 or its own criteria.

This Court determined, however, that in the future the issue would be remedied by the Board stating clearly that it had considered the required factors before rendering its decision regarding parole. This Court stated, "We emphasize that ... if [the Parole Board] clearly states in its order denying parole that it considered the factors outlined in section 24-21-640 and the fifteen factors published in its parole form... the decision will constitute a routine denial of parole and the ALC would have limited authority to review the decision to determine whether the Board followed proper procedure." Cooper at 500, 661 S.E.2d at 112.

This holding was further clarified by this Court in Compton. “We emphasized that ... if the Parole Board clearly states in its order denying parole that it considered the factors outlined in section 24–21–640 and the fifteen factors published in Form 1212, and that if the Parole Board complies with this procedure, the decision will constitute a routine denial of parole and the ALC will have limited authority to review the decision.” Id. at 479, S.E.2d at 177.

Petitioner would have this Court grant his petition for certiorari and upend the clear rulings of Cooper and Compton for the obvious goal of stripping away the Board’s autonomy and discretion in order to manufacture “meaningful” parole hearings in which the only legitimate result the Board may make is the granting of parole. Petitioner may color his language in platitudes of ensuring that the Board’s decisions are “accurate,” but his ultimate goal will always be entitlement to parole – regardless of the Board’s discretion over parole release decisions.

Petitioner also argues that certiorari be granted so that this Court can ensure that his due process rights are not violated by the Board. Yet Petitioner refuses to acknowledge that this Court and the United States Supreme Court have repeatedly determined that due process is extremely limited for inmates hoping for parole.

Due process is derived from the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution. No state shall “deprived any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.” U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. “Due process” is necessary when a state actor is taking something away – be it life, liberty or property – from a person. “[A] prisoner must identify a cognizable liberty interest before he can demonstrate a denial of due process.” Bowling v. Dir, Virginia Dep’t of Corr., 920 F.3d 192, 199 (4th Cir. 2019).

When the Board denies parole, the inmate has lost nothing, nor has anything been taken away.

Petitioner wildly misses this point when he argues that he has an expectation of eventual release to parole. The United States Supreme Court has held that inmates eligible for parole are only afforded a hope of release, a far cry from the due process considerations when parole has already been granted and the State is seeking a revocation. Greenholtz, 442 U.S. at 10-11. “That the state holds out the *possibility* of parole provides no more than a mere hope that the benefit will be obtained.” Id. at 11, (emphasis in original), citing Board of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 577 (1972). The Court in Roth does not mince words when it speaks of only expectations. “To have a property interest in a benefit, a person clearly must have more than an abstract need or desire for it. He must have more than a unilateral expectation of it. He must, instead, have a legitimate claim of entitlement to it.” Id. While no one can fault Petitioner’s strong desire for parole, he does not have a legitimate right to receive parole.

The Court of Appeals clearly sympathized with Petitioner’s strong desire for parole. The opinion devoted a great deal of attention to describing Petitioner’s youth, his home life as a young person, the circumstances surrounding his crime, his efforts in the Department of Corrections to show rehabilitation, and even a psychological review of his mental state.⁵ Petitioner similarly devotes multiple pages in his brief and hundreds of pages in his appendix to his support, achievements, and purported rehabilitation in an obvious bid to garner sympathy from this Court. He does not do this to make a legal argument, but an emotional one. He wants to be released to parole, but he can only show “an abstract need or desire for it.” Roth at 577. Because the Board,

⁵ Interestingly, the Court of Appeals did not look at Petitioner’s recent disciplinary history at the Department of Corrections or chose not to recite his recent behavioral infractions, including fighting without a weapon (October 5, 2016), threatening an employee (July 16, 2019), unauthorized services (July 3, 2023), or abuse of privileges (July 7, 2023). Inmate Search Detail Report (as of December 7, 2023), <https://public.doc.state.sc.us/scdc-public/inmateDetails.do?id=%2000069848>.

being the sole authority over parole decisions, has not yet granted him parole, Petitioner is looking to this Court in the hopes that it will overturn the decisions of the Board.

However, the clear holdings in Cooper and Compton stand in the way, so Petitioner criticizes this Court's holdings and, despite failing to obtain permission to argue against precedent, he argues for this Court to overturn these two cases. Respondent urges this Court to keep Cooper and Compton intact, both because they are sound decisions, and because they comport with South Carolina statutes.

As discussed above, this Court in Cooper reviewed an allegation that the Board was not following the procedure required by statute. In reversing, this Court determined that, so long as the Board states clearly that it had considered the required factors, "the decision will constitute a routine denial of parole and the ALC would have limited authority to review the decision to determine whether the Board followed proper procedure." Cooper at 500, 661 S.E.2d at 112.

Even after this clear holding, this Court was forced to revisit the matter in Compton. "In the instant case, the Parole Board clearly stated in its notice of rejection that it considered the statutory criteria and the criteria set forth in Form 1212, which is sufficient under Cooper." Id. at 479, 685 S.E.2d at 177.

Importantly, after this Court decided Cooper, the Legislature amended S.C. Code § 1-23-600(D): "An administrative law judge shall not hear an appeal from an inmate in the custody of the Department of Corrections involving ... the denial of parole to a potentially eligible inmate by the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services." Thus, South Carolina precedent is clear that when the Board makes a routine denial of parole, the ALC acts properly when it dismisses the appeal. The inmate has not been deprived of a liberty interest; the inmate simply

continues to serve his valid sentence and may place his hope for parole in the next hearing. Our Legislature clearly agrees.

Respondent acknowledges that Cooper allows for certain issues to be raised regarding the Board's processes, such as how votes in favor of parole are calculated against the number of Board members present. See Barton v. S.C. Dep't of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services, 404 S.C. 395, 745 S.E.2d 110 (2013). However, this is not the issue underlying Petitioner's complaint. Petitioner was merely denied parole as a routine denial of parole, because the Board followed the procedure outlined in Cooper and Compton. This Court has also just recently clarified the ALC's authority in inmate appeals in Allen v. S.C. Dep't of Corrections, 439 S.C. 164, 171, 886 S.E.2d 671, 674 (2023). "[T]he ALC is not required to hold a hearing in every matter and may summarily dismiss an inmate's grievance if it does not implicate a state-created liberty or property interest sufficient to trigger procedural due process guarantees."

Here, Petitioner merely argues that the Board's decision was not "accurate," or that his parole hearing was not "meaningful." Regardless of how Petitioner phrases his complaint, the essence of his petition is that he wants parole and didn't get it. The ALC properly dismissed the appeal because a routine denial of parole "does not implicate a state-created liberty or property interest." Id. Thus, he is petitioning this Court in the hopes that it will intervene and change the rules so that the Board *has* to give him parole. Doing so, of course, would upend the entire parole system and make the appellate courts the final arbiters of parole release decisions – a role that Respondent respectfully submits the judicial branch does not have, nor should it wish to take upon. Therefore, this Court should decline to grant certiorari.

Respondent further reminds this Court that Cooper and Compton were correctly decided considering the minimal due process necessary for parole consideration as seen in Greenholtz.

Furthermore, Allen emphasizes the ALC's responsibility to dismiss appeals from routine denials of parole. Nothing is taken away when the Board denies parole to an otherwise parole-eligible inmate. This Court emphasized in Cooper, and reaffirmed in Compton, that when the Board clearly states in its rejection letter that it has considered the factors of S.C. Code § 24-21-640 and the criteria of parole consideration, "the decision will constitute a routine denial of parole and the ALC would have limited authority to review the decision." Compton at 479, 685 S.E.2d at 177. This clearly happened in this case, so there is no need for this Court to grant certiorari just because Petitioner doesn't believe the Board when its rejection letter clearly stated that it carefully considered the requisite factors.

Respondent takes issue with the Court of Appeals' characterization that the Board's decisions are being made in a "perfunctory manner." The Board hears fifty-five to sixty-five requests for parole each hearing day, so time allotted to each hearing is understandably limited. What the Court of Appeals overlooked, however, is the time each individual Board member takes in advance of each hearing, reading through the materials prepared by both the Department, the inmate, and his supporters. Although the Board is required to state the reasons for denial in its rejection letter, the sheer number of inmates heard on a given day necessitate the abbreviated summation of the reasons for denial – such as the nature and seriousness of the offense, indication of violence, and use of a deadly weapon. This Court in Cooper has held that such reasons are sufficient for denial of parole. Id. at 499 n. 5, 661 S.E.2d at 111 n. 5. Just because the Board denied parole for the seriousness of the crime committed does not mean that the Board failed to consider the positive information about the inmate found within the criteria of parole consideration. The Board clearly stated that it did so in its letter of rejection, which is sufficient under Cooper and Compton. Thus, a grant of certiorari is not warranted.

Lastly, the Court of Appeals called for the Legislature to “review and/or revise the parole system.” Whether the Legislature decides to take up the task, as the Court of Appeals noted, is up to the members of the General Assembly. Respondent submits that the Legislature is indeed the best body suited to examine the Department’s internal procedures and make any changes it deems necessary, because it has both the means to conduct a thorough review and the clear authority to enact changes, if any are truly warranted. Respondent respectfully would request that this Court decline to grant certiorari for this reason as well.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing arguments, this Court should deny certiorari and uphold the Court of Appeals’ ruling.